

A New Materialist Approach for NGO Research: The NGO-Research Assemblage

Introduction:

The premise adopted in this chapter is that before we begin to research NGOs, we must first interrogate what we think they are. This is because the way we conceptualise NGOs will shape the questions we might ask about them, the methods we use, the data we generate, our analytical approach, and how we understand ourselves in relation to our research. Thinking about how to conceptualise NGOs is not an idle academic exercise. It is an important ethical issue because our choices and assumptions have real world implications for what can be known about NGOs and the work they do.

This chapter will respond to the premise outlined above by exploring what New Materialism and more specifically what ‘assemblage’ (*agencement*) (Deleuze and Guattari, 1988; Deleuze and Parnet, 1987; DeLanda, 2006) might offer as a conceptual approach for researching NGOs. It will contend that if we conceptualise NGOs as emerging from a ‘research-assemblage’ (Fox and Alldred, 2015a; 2015b) of dynamic processes that involve the material world, discourses, and people, we might find new ways to decolonise our research practices and the knowledge we produce about NGOs. The aim of this chapter is to help new and more experienced researchers to reflect on what counts as data and how we might understand our own role as researchers. This chapter is also an invitation to critically question the knowledges that we contribute to the wider field of NGO research.

Commented [SP1]: Will pick up this important theme in intro to volume given the increased calls for urgent action seen even since commissioning of this volume.

Commented [SP2]: Insert ‘here’

A New Materialist Turn for NGO Research

Contemporary research on NGOs has acknowledged the dilemmas involved in defining NGOs as knowable entities (Lewis and Opoku-Mensah, 2006; Bernal and Grewal, 2014). Such research has also explored how their location within wider contexts of development (Tvedt, 2006; Richard, 2009), social movements (Kudva, 2005) and international relations (Ahmed and Potter, 2006) can serve to further complicate definitions. Engaging with these dilemmas has enabled researchers to elucidate nuanced typologies of NGOs. While this pursuit of typologies has opened doors to critical questions about what NGOs are, it has also led to a conceptual cul-de-sac as these definitions ultimately fail to fully capture the dynamism of these organisation. One important conceptual turn in NGO research has been to consider what NGOs do, rather than what they are, and this has led to an interrogation of how power operates in and through NGOs. This conceptual turn, heavily influenced by poststructuralism and postcolonialism, has been particularly interested in thinking through the ways that NGOs perpetuate discourses of neoliberal development (Ferguson, 1994; Schuller, 2009), co-opt social movements through processes of NGOisation (Lang, 1997; Alvarez, 2014; 2018; Schöneberg, 2019), and are intertwined with systems of imperialism that undermine national sovereignty (Funk, 2006; Hearn, 2007; Mitchell et al. 2020). This has led Bernal and Grewal, (2014: 8) to surmise that:

The designations ‘non-profit’ and ‘non-governmental’ should be taken instead as pointing to complex relationships that need to be investigated and analysed. Such relationships are complex not simply because of the diversity of NGOs or states, but also because NGOs exist in a geopolitical context of the knowledge and power frameworks of the expanding modern West. This context includes new and old networks of finance, communication and knowledge that take for granted and promote

Commented [JE3]: On reflection, my knowledge of this literature is a little out of date – is there anything here that you think I should be citing to freshen this up?

Commented [SP54R3]: Fernando (2011) The Political Economy of NGOs, deals with this issue directly in the context of Bangladesh & Sri Lanka. But more recent work that touches on this are: Schoneberg (2019) “Manoeuvring political realms: alternatives to development in Haiti”, Ch. 17 in PostDevelopment in Practice ed by Klein and Morreo. I have attached to my email her 2017 article based on same research. Also this 2020 book in Chs4 & 5 addresses the issue of TNGO power & legitimacy in relation to sovereign states https://www.amazon.co.uk/Between-Power-Irrelevance-Future-Transnational/dp/0190084723/ref=sr_1_1?dchild=1&keywords=power+and+irrelevance&qid=1596139752&sr=8-1

Commented [SP5]: (

assumptions about the nature of states, markets and civil society, as well as other issues such as gender relations.

If, as Bernal and Grewal (2014: 8) suggest, ‘NGOs exist in a geopolitical context of the knowledge and power frameworks of the expanding modern West’ then it is not surprising that Lang has posed the question, ‘how successful can [NGOs] be when they are dependent on exactly the structures that need to be transformed?’ (1997: 113). According to Roy, these concerns have precipitated attempts by activists and researchers to disentangle NGOs from ‘patriarchal and imperial [...] structures of state, civil society and the market’ (2015: 111). However, she warns that this ‘fetishization of autonomy’ is dangerous because ‘there are no pure spaces’ which exist outside of these structures (Roy, 2015: 111). While poststructural and postcolonial critiques of NGOs have disrupted the ideal of an NGO as a benign non-state entity and have brought much needed attention to understandings of how power operates in and through NGOs at local, national and global levels, they have created another impasse for NGOs and NGO research. What are we to do as activists, researchers and aid workers if NGOs and the people working for them are subject to the power/knowledge structures of neoliberalism, patriarchy and imperialism?

Commented [SP6]: This also needs picking up in the volume intro as an important theme ie the starting point & dilemma of activist-researchers, using Parfitt (2010, 2017).

The argument put forward in this chapter is that an alternative conceptual approach is needed, one that provides a way of acknowledging the ways in which power operates while leaving open the possibility for NGOs to be more than entities that are simply subject to pre-existing discursive structures. The desire for a fresh conceptual approach is not new to the field of NGO research; however, the thread developed in this chapter is concerned specifically with the possibilities that New Materialism might offer. New Materialism foregrounds the importance of matter, agency and the workings of power. One way to understand what is

Commented [SP7]: This clearly also speaks to the section on using theory in research. Intro to emphasise that the theory, data, method categories overlap and will be addressed by contributions throughout the volume. This chapter, being a good example of the flow from theory to conceptualisations of data and method.

different about New Materialism compared to other philosophical ideas is to consider its framing of ontology, epistemology and ethics. Put simply, ontology refers to the nature of being, its properties and the relations between those properties. For New Materialists and for those interested in theories of assemblage this typically means ‘there are no structures, systems of mechanisms at work; instead, there are innumerable “events” comprising the material effects of both nature and culture which together produce the world and human history’ (Fox, *n.d.*). Put another way, New Materialism ‘rejects the distinction between the physical world and the social constructs of human thoughts, meanings and desires’ (Fox and Alldred, 2018: 3).

If we hold this ontology to be true, that the nature of being is constantly in flux and not static or possessing an absolute essence, then this has implications for epistemology, or how we know what we know and what it is possible to know. To this end, New Materialism draws our attention towards an analysis of how things come to be (their becomings) and their ongoing inter- and intra-relationships. It is not a pursuit of knowledge about the essence of what things are, but instead leaves room for ‘complexity that accounts for open configurations, continuous connections and unstable hierarchies, structures and axes of difference’ (Tamboukou, 2010: 679). This in turn has consequences for ethics and the moral principles that shape our behaviours as researchers and extends to the methodologies we use and the claims to knowledge we make about NGOs, their policies, their staff and their projects. This has led one prominent New Materialist, Karen Barad, to use the neologism: ethico-onto-epistemology (2007) to suggest the inseparability of ontology, epistemology and ethics in research.

Commented [SP8]: This gives me pause for thought that the volume somewhere needs to acknowledge the distinct and considerable contribution from colleagues (past & present), students and alumni at UEL – KK, MT, AB, EJ, HM, EB – the UEL assemblage. Recognise influence of Parfitt’s work on editor.

Commented [SP9]: Editor to draw out in Intro

Before turning to trace how one strand of New Materialist theory – that of assemblage – will be put to work in this chapter, I want to situate the proposed conceptual turn in this chapter as emerging from my own encounters with the work of the following NGO scholars: Dorothea Hilhorst; Helen Wadham, Cathy Urquhart and Richard Warren; and Saida Hodžić. Hilhorst (2003) suggests that one way out of the impasse of poststructuralism is for researchers to turn their attention to the everyday politics and realities of NGOs. Drawing on ‘Actor Network Theory’, which shares some of the same ontological concerns as New Materialism, Hilhorst encourages us to think of NGOs as ‘open-ended processes’ rather than ‘things’ and suggests that ‘instead of asking what an NGO is, the more appropriate question then becomes how NGO-ing is done’ (2003: 4-5). Not only does NGO-ing disrupt the idea of a coherent and stable NGO entity, Hilhorst’s articulation of an NGO as an ‘open-ended process’ also suggests the possibility of agency in the everyday and the disruption or subversion of dominant systems of power/knowledge by NGO staff and beneficiaries.

Commented [SP10]: Editor to draw out here the significance of the reflexive process for researchers, providing a form of accountability and transparency for readers and peers.

Commented [SP11]: List the 3 in the first instance here for clarity?

Commented [JE12R11]: Yes – good idea.

Commented [SP13]: Editor to highlight the researcher’s need to feel some agency and hope for the possibility of change.

Wadham et al. (2019) have also suggested that we might look at NGO actors for developing more complex understandings of relations between macro scale systems and the everyday. For Wadham et al., ‘NGOs are constituted within a contingent field of economic, political and social relationships (Dempsey, 2012). However, there is a gap in our understanding of how NGO actors—in practice—balance the inherent tensions this creates’ (2019: 1264). This has led Wadham et al. (2019) to propose ‘a paradox perspective’, which again disrupts the idea of an NGO as an entity or ‘social unit’ with a pre-existing essence. Instead, for Wadham et al. (2019: 1265), an NGO comes into being as a consequence of competing and at times contradictory demands and obligations. These paradoxes create tensions and blur boundaries between people and organisations, and between communities and donors, and are therefore a

Commented [SP14]: This opens up real possibilities for researchers to understand how practitioners balance these tensions and identify the paradoxes.

‘defining, ontological feature’ of NGOs and the authors claim they should therefore shape how NGOs are conceptualised (Wadham et al., 2019: 1266).

Hodžić (2014) offers a different way out of the poststructural impasse of NGO research by drawing attention to Donna Haraway’s (1991) posthuman metaphor of the cyborg. Haraway (1991) uses the cyborg – a human/technological being – to develop a critique of human-centered or anthropocentric ontologies. The aim of Haraway’s critique, and the aim of posthumanism more broadly, is to expose the failure of anthropocentric ontologies to encapsulate the ‘interdependence of the human, the body and its historical others’ (Braidotti, 2006: 203). Braidotti (2006) has argued that these humanist ontologies can only make sense of a world that has already ceased to be, because reality and what we can know about the world is deemed to be the product of discourse. Instead, Haraway (1991) shows us that discourse may well produce human-centered ideas about the world (e.g. neoliberalism, patriarchy and imperialism), but these discourses do not constitute the world because the world and all of its interdependent elements are always in the process of changing. Hodžić applies this thinking to NGOs to suggest that while they are undoubtedly sites where political, social and economic discourses may flourish, they are also sites where boundaries between the material and discursive are confounded and where new possibilities might emerge. Hodžić (2014) therefore suggests that NGO research should take up Haraway’s suggestion and revel in the ‘confusion of boundaries’, the ‘leaky’ and the ‘transgressed boundaries, potent fusions and dangerous possibilities’ (1991: 150 - 154) to develop a conceptual approach to NGOs that is more than human.

Commented [SP15]: Are these few sentences needed here? It reads very well without, I think.

Like the authors discussed above, this chapter seeks to contribute to an ontological turn in NGO research by foregrounding the importance of process, the blurring of boundaries and the material (more than human) world. To this end, the next section of this chapter will begin with a close excavation of DeleuzioGuattarian assemblage in New Materialist theory as well as its interpretations (DeLanda, 2006; Tamboukou, 2010; Fox and Alldred, 2015a; 2015b). This theory will then be put to work to show how it might be used to conceptualise NGOs and generate research about them.

Commented [SP16]: Yes!

Theorising the NGO-Research Assemblage

Part 1: The NGO-Assemblage

The notion of ‘assemblage’ used in this chapter emerges from the work of Deleuze and Guattari (1988) and their book, *A Thousand Plateaus: Capitalism and Schizophrenia*. However, there are two important caveats I wish to acknowledge before beginning to discuss this conceptual idea in more detail. The first is that *A Thousand Plateaus: Capitalism and Schizophrenia* is an English translation of the French book: *Mille Plateaux: Capitalisme et Schizophrénie* (Deleuze and Guattari, 1980). In the English language version, the term ‘assemblage’ is used as a translation for ‘*agencement*’. Yet, as DeLanda has argued, this translation ‘fails to capture the meaning of the original *agencement*, a term that refers to the action of matching or fitting together a set of components (*agencer*), as well as the result of such an action: an ensemble of parts that mesh together well’ (2016: 1). If we return to the discussion of ontology in New Materialism for a moment, then we can begin to see why this translation is so problematic. While assemblage may well account for the complexity of relations, it fails to capture the action that *agencement* infers and may subsequently return us to an idea of a fixed and closed configuration of reality. Therefore, this translation risks us

Commented [SP17]: Tessalation?!

Commented [JE18R17]: Oh – I have never heard this word before, but I love it. And yes...tessellation!

slipping back to conceptualising NGOs as pre-assembled and coherent entities rather than opening new possibilities to think of them as ongoing dynamic articulations. To this end, using the translation of 'assemblage' has the potential to lose the ontological commitment to the nature of being as constantly in process.

The second caveat is that when Deleuze and Guattari (1980; 1988) wrote about the idea of assemblage they did not provide one unified definition of the concept (DeLanda, 2006), and since then the term has been taken up and used by a wide range of authors (e.g., DeLanda, 2006; Puar, 2007; Fox and Alldred, 2015a; 2015b). To complicate matters further, there are similar concepts, albeit with different genealogies, that are intertwined with theories of assemblage, such as Karen Barad's 'apparatus' (2007) and Foucault's *dispositif* (1980). For the purpose of this chapter the English word 'assemblage' will be used. Although assemblage may not quite connote the same meaning of *agencement*, assemblage is more commonly used in English and I hope that the above exegesis will provide enough context for this translation to be read with caution. In what follows I will also take care to elaborate on the morphogenesis of what I am calling the NGO-assemblage.

DeLanda (2006) describes an assemblage as an emergent phenomenon that is defined by the coming together of heterogeneous components but never fully defined by them. These components 'should not be regarded as ontologically-prior essences occupying distinct and delimited spaces, but as relational, gaining ontological status and integrity only through their relationship to other similarly contingent and ephemeral bodies, things and ideas' (Fox and Alldred, 2015a: 125). This is an important feature of Deleuze and Guattari's theory of assemblage, which they term 'relations of exteriority' (1988), and which DeLanda

summarises as implying that 'a component part of the assemblage may be detached from it and plugged into a different assemblage in which its interactions are different' (2006: 10). Relations of exteriority provide us with a way of thinking about the challenge of exploring relationships between components at different scales, between human and non-human and between discourses and matter.

So, what would it mean for us to consider an NGO as an emergent phenomenon that emerges from the coming together of heterogeneous components? Perhaps the easiest place to begin is to question what might count as a heterogeneous component of an NGO. Heterogeneity can refer to components in different states and scales, and can include human, non-human, material and discursive components. Therefore, the NGO-assemblage comes into being – emerges – as people, funding, programmes, buildings, discourses, policies etc., interact. However, this NGO-assemblage is not fully defined by the components we have identified because it will always escape the process of signification. We must also remember that these components do not possess 'ontologically-prior essences' (Fox and Alldred, 2015a: 125). For example, a programme within the NGO-assemblage is also an emergent phenomenon with its own heterogeneous components. Elements of this programme exist – come into being – within the NGO-assemblage, but there will also be elements that interact elsewhere. A person may emerge as a beneficiary of the NGO-programme, but this is a relation of exteriority and they may emerge elsewhere into a different assemblage where it is possible to become something other than a beneficiary. Tamboukou (2010: 691) suggests that:

If we can remember that these multiscaled social realities can never be reducible to their components, it derives that they can causally affect their components in limiting

and enabling ways, but also that their interactions cannot be simply attributed to their components.

Commented [SP19]: I am not sure this quotation adds anything that you have not already said above?

By interrogating what Tamboukou (2010: 691) has described as ‘multiscaled social realities’, the possibility for agency emerges within an NGO-assemblage and challenges the notion that NGOs have become little more than a technology of neoliberal development (Ferguson, 1994), or that NGOs have been entirely ‘co-opted by the powers they once criticised, such as the state and transnational capital and their agents’ (Castro, 2001: 17). Instead, the NGO-assemblage leaves open the possibility for capturing the ‘ambiguities and variations in and among NGOs’ (Alvarez, 2014: 286), and the possibility that NGOs are ‘continually reconfigured by a mix of internal and external forces and have shifting centres of gravity’ (Alvarez, 2014: 299).

Commented [SP20]: ..what Tamboukou (2010) refers to as.....

There may also be times when an assemblage appears more or less coherent or tangible. Deleuze and Guattari refer to this phenomenon as ‘territorialisation’ and ‘deterritorialisation’. Tamboukou writes that the etymology of these terms should not be overlooked, because the Latin word *terra* encourages us to imagine ‘processes of grounding or uprooting’ the assemblage (2010: 687). With this in mind, territorialisation might occur when we focus on spatial aspects of the assemblage, such as the boundaries of a body or an organisation, which are well defined and endure for a period, giving them the appearance of stability and unity, or what DeLanda has called ‘internal homogeneity’ (2006: 13). To this end, the territorialisation of an NGO might involve the processes by which it becomes materially located in time and space. A member of staff going to work each day at an NGO is contributing to its territorialisation. A poster advertising an event hosted by the NGO, or a t-shirt provided to volunteers at a project site is an act of grounding. Each of these processes

of territorialisation give an NGO the appearance of stability. Territorialisation might also come about as a function of an assemblage, or its ability to 'affect' a physical, psychological, emotional or social change (Fox and Alldred, 2015a; 2015b). Thus, territorialisation offers a way to make sense of the ways an NGO is intimately bound up in producing certain affects, such as the production of a person as a 'beneficiary'. This beneficiary affect is understood by Deleuze and Guattari (1988) as an embodied process that is brought into being between the affected component (e.g. a person) and another affecting component (e.g. the NGO). Deleuze and Guattari (1988) also offer deterritorialisation as an antagonistic partner to territorialisation. Deterritorialisation is what makes the boundaries of the assemblage appear fuzzy and less coherent. This process of deterritorialisation or detachment from the assemblage involves a simultaneous (re)territorialising elsewhere in ways which may have similar or completely different functions.

An interesting and productive feature of territorialisation/deterritorialisation (and reterritorialisation for that matter) is that any analysis of the NGO assemblage is not limited to a focus on the social processes that occur at the micro (e.g. individual) or macro (e.g. organisational) scale but provides a way to interrogate the interrelationships between multiscaled social realities (Tamboukou, 2010). Furthermore, theories of assemblage also introduce the possibility of agency and new ways of being for a component (e.g. a subject or object), which may be 'both limiting and enabling' (Tamboukou, 2010: 691) because a component will always have an existence in a different scale in space, time or function that is apart from the assemblage.

Part 2: The NGO-Research Assemblage

Having developed the notion of an NGO-assemblage, the next conceptual step taken in this chapter is to suggest that the research process also needs to be (re)thought with this conceptualisation in mind. How does research and academia interact (or perhaps intra-act) with the NGO-assemblage? To answer this question, I draw on research by Fox and Alldred (2015b: 404) who coined the term ‘research-assemblage’, which they define in the following way:

The relations in a research-assemblage include the events to be researched, research tools such as questionnaires, interview schedules or other apparatus; recording and analysis technologies, computer software and hardware; theoretical frameworks and hypotheses; research literatures and findings from earlier studies; and, of course, researchers. To this are added contextual elements such as the physical spaces and establishments where research takes place; the frameworks, philosophies, cultures and traditions that surround scientific inquiry; ethical principles and ethics committees; and the paraphernalia of academic research outputs: libraries, journals, editors and reviewers, and readers.

By conceptualising NGO research in this way, I am suggesting that research processes have their own set of historical, discursive, and material relations ‘which are all the paraphernalia of academic inquiry such as the researcher, methodologies, research instruments, theories and so on’ (Fox and Alldred, 2015a: 126). Furthermore, when this research-assemblage encounters the NGO-assemblage it produces its own set of relations, which I will call the *NGO-research assemblage*. This conceptualisation provokes questions about the micropolitics of NGO research, such as the interactions between researcher and researched, the generation of data, and our understanding of ethics. In the next part of this chapter, I will

flesh out an understanding of the NGO-research assemblage by giving examples of its potential application to research practice.

For many of us, our interest in researching NGOs comes about because we have a background working for or with NGOs. In research that is framed by constructivist or poststructuralist epistemologies, we might be encouraged to attend to our positionality in relation to our research. Are we an insider or an outsider, and how might this status and other intersections of identity influence the data we generate and the conclusions we reach? However, thinking about positionality in this way requires us to make sense of research from fixed subject positions and may forever fail to capture the fluidity of lived experience as a researcher. Therefore, I offer the notion of an NGO-researcher assemblage as an alternative. This is an assemblage that comes into being via the interaction of the NGO-assemblage, the research-assemblage, as well as wider socio-cultural relations of the entities involved. Our NGO-researcher assemblage is no longer a set of stable subject positions with an internal essence, or entirely the product of discourse, but a 'subject that emerges as relations of exteriority are established' (DeLanda, 2006: 47). The NGO-researcher assemblage foregrounds what is taking place in the moment of interaction, rather than sense-making that relies on pre-existing categories. To this end, conceiving of an NGO-researcher provides a way of also capturing the turn to the everyday in NGO research and may provide a complementary approach for researchers interested in researching NGO-ing (Hilhorst, 1993) rather than NGOs.

Commented [SP21]: This needs to be picked up in editorial intro to volume as an important strand in conceptualising what it means to 'research NGOs'.

Although there may be some territorialisation to this NGO-researcher assemblage, which gives the appearance of a stable researcher identity, we are always more than the sum of these

heterogeneous components. For example, some components that bring the NGO-researcher assemblage into being might reterritorialise across different research events (e.g. interviews) to create similar affects for the researcher (e.g. gendered affects), while others will not. The NGO-researcher assemblage might also provide a way of thinking through shifting subjectivities because rather than worrying about how boundaries between different subject positions become blurred over time (Wadham et al., 2019), instead we accept that different positions emerge as relations of exteriority change (e.g. friendships develop). To this end, it is incumbent upon us to take these changing relations of exteriority into consideration when thinking about what constitutes data, analysis and ethics. This is akin to the ethico-onto-epistemology of Barad (2007).

Commented [SP22]: Sp.

The NGO-researcher assemblage therefore requires us to consider what Haraway (1988) termed, 'situated knowledges'. Haraway moves us away from concerns about 'bias' in research, which conjures the idea that it is possible to achieve an impartial 'view from above, from nowhere' (1988: 578). She also refuses to allow us to slip into nihilistic relativism where all standpoints are equal (ibid). Situated knowledges provoke us to carefully attend to our own role in the processes of knowledge production because the 'knowing self is partial in all its guises, never finished, whole ... it is able to join with another, to see together without claiming to be another' (Haraway, 1991: 193). For the NGO-researcher who encounters other 'entities' in their research, whether these are people, organisations, policies and so on, what they might come to know is inherently relational and emergent, and never totalising. Therefore, if we can begin to trace these situated knowledges within the NGO-researcher assemblage, then we might also develop a sensitivity to the micropolitics of the research process itself, 'of what happens when events are transformed into 'data', and who gains and who loses in the process' (Fox and Alldred, 2015a: 126).

Commented [SP23]: Is this then to suggest that we are more open and, where we can be, explicit, about the intentional and unintentional acts of curation that bring together the NGO-researcher assemblage?

Commented [JE24R23]: Yes – exactly. This links to the final paragraph of this section. I have tried to make this clearer using some of your phraseology above.

Working with New Materialism and the NGO-research assemblage encourages us to move away from the idea of data collection and towards data production. The reason for this is that data collection suggests an ontology where data is understood as a (more or less whole) representation of a research event. Instead, I am arguing that the production of data should be understood as the process by which different components of the NGO-research assemblage interact. Data emerge from this interaction. For example, what counts as data produced in an interview should be understood as the interaction between the researcher and interviewee, the interview approach adopted, the technology used to record the interview, transcription, translation, the wider context in which the interview takes place, and so on. Furthermore, the data that are produced are not static entities but are also caught up in further analytical processes (e.g. thematic analysis), as well as the process of selection and re-narration by a researcher, and the reading and interpretation of the data by others. Two interconnected questions we might ask ourselves are: when do data start becoming data and when do data stop becoming data?

The turn to data production as an ongoing and emergent process has the potential to help us to develop a better understanding of the micropolitics within the NGO-research assemblage. To this end, Savage (2010: 16) encourages researchers to develop and make public our personal research **archives** so that we and others might ‘get inside the research “boiler room”’. The aim is to make research decisions (and omissions) explicit and to risk revealing what Law (2004) termed the ‘messiness’ of our research. Savage (2010) argues that by opening the ‘boiler room’ to critique, the contingencies that arise in the production of data are revealed and we can begin to see the spaces of potentiality for other data to emerge. Using a

Commented [SP25]: This term springs up here unannounced. Without some prefacing, it could lead to misinterpretation ie when is an archive not an assemblage? So perhaps consider an alternative way of phrasing this? One way may be to cut this sentence and insert the word ‘research’ before ‘boiler room’ in the next.

Commented [JE26R25]: Is this now clearer?

Commented [SP527R25]: Yes, much clearer. Small issue here of consistency in use of “ or ” with boiler room. This reminds me to send you the Routledge style guide to check on your headings format, spacing etc for final draft.

similar metaphor of the ‘black box’, Stanley (2016: 66) also encourages us to take note of how we respond to emotional and aesthetic encounters in our research, and to make ‘visible and audible – the sight and noise’ of our research work. In sum, a key ethical aim of the NGO-research assemblage is to make explicit the intentional and unintentional acts of curation in our research.

Commented [SP28]: Stanley (....)

The NGO-Research Assemblage: Possibilities for Decolonising NGO Research

In this chapter, I have argued that it is not just the researcher who is situated, but so are the academic fields our work emerges from, the research methodologies we use and the philosophical commitments of our research. I have drawn on work by Fox and Alldred (2015a; 2015b) who remind us that the research-assemblage has its own situated knowledges, and that this fact is often hidden from us. Thinking about what is hidden is particularly significant for those of us interested in decolonising our research with and about NGOs. Savage (2013: 8) has suggested that that methodologies which have originated in Western knowledge systems ‘hide their own traces’ yet they both shape and delimit what it is possible to know. Therefore, looking inside and inviting others into the ‘boiler room’ or ‘black box’ of our research seems to be a vital first step towards decolonising our research with and about NGOs (Savage, 2010; Stanley, 2016). Working with the concept of the NGO-research assemblage is an invitation to open ourselves up to the partiality of the empirical knowledge we produce, and to reveal how (colonial) systems of knowledge are complicit in producing this partial perspective. This acceptance of partiality has the potential to create a new ethical space for engaging with the micropolitics of NGO research, irrespective of the scale of our analysis. It also requires us to open ourselves up to the pluriversity of knowledge systems

Commented [SP29]: I think this is the better to sentence with which to begin this para.

Commented [JE30R29]: Agreed – done.

Commented [SPS31]: ;a fact that is often hidden from us?

Commented [SP32]: Sp.

(Mignolo, 2011; 2018) and to recognise that if we are to decolonise NGO research, including the NGO-research assemblage, then we are required to do more than simply ask different empirical questions. To do this, we must interrogate and make explicit the ethico-onto-epistemological entanglements of our work and take steps to decolonise our research practices.

So, how might we begin such a project? I believe our first step must be to ask what this means for the researcher in the NGO-research assemblage, particularly if this researcher has been educated or otherwise inducted into colonial knowledge systems. Deleuze and Guattari's (1988: 239) concept of 'becoming' provides one possible way-marker because it describes the process by which a component of the assemblage – let me suggest this might be the NGO-researcher – might be deterritorialized and become reterritorialized elsewhere.

Becoming is certainly not imitating or identifying with something; neither is it regressing-progressing; neither is it corresponding, establishing corresponding relations; neither is it producing, producing a filiation or producing through filiation. Becoming is a verb with a consistency all its own; it does not reduce to, or lead back to, 'appearing,' 'being,' 'equalling,' or 'producing'.

(Deleuze and Guattari 1988, 239)

Tamboukou suggests that the process of becoming 'is set in motion by the will to lose the self, leave the grounds on which you think you stand, follow lines of flight, deterritorialise and disperse the self' (2010: 694). If this is true, then an NGO-researcher seeking to decolonise their research must be willing 'to lose the self' and 'leave the grounds' on which they (perhaps unknowingly) stand. It places an onus on the transformation of the researcher and does not allow for an easy retreat into the safety of reflexive sense-making. There is hope in 'becoming' for the NGO-researcher because although they might have been inducted

Commented [SP33]: Not sure this quote adds anything. Maybe move directly to 'Tamboukou suggests....'?

Commented [JE34R33]: I think that I would like to keep it since it is a key descriptor of becoming from D&G.

Commented [SPS35R33]: Understood. Although the strength of this quote is only apparent when read alongside Tamboukou who more readily tells us what becoming is rather than what it is not!. But I also recognise that even the term becoming is in danger of being territorialised in this comment.

Commented [SP36]: Insert '

into colonial knowledge systems and must acknowledge that these systems will have influenced the morphogenesis of our NGO-research assemblage, they are not restricted to forever reproducing or being entirely subject to them. Instead, if they can come to know something of their situated knowledges and the grounds on which they think they stand, then perhaps they can take steps to deterritorialise our colonial ethico-onto-epistemological commitments? In this attempt, although they risk the reterritorialization of coloniality elsewhere, Deleuze and Parnet (2002: 38) assure us that ‘we will not rediscover everything we were fleeing’, there will always be the possibility for disruption and for the NGO-research assemblage to take a more ethical pluriversal shape.

Reference List

- Ahmed, S., and Potter, D.M. (2006) *NGOs in International Politics*. Boulder, CO: Kumarian Press
- Alvarez, S.E. (2014) Beyond NGOization? Reflections from Latin America, In: Bernal, V., & Grewal, I. (Eds) *Theorizing NGOs: States, Feminisms, and Neoliberalism*, pp. 285-300, Durham, NC: Duke University Press
- Alvarez, S. E. (2018) Latin American Feminisms ‘Go Global’: Trends of the 1990s and Challenges for the New Millennium, In: Alvarez, S.E., Dagnino, E. & Escobar, A (Eds) *Cultures of Politics/Politics of Cultures: Re-Visioning Latin American Social Movements*, pp: 293-324, London: Routledge
- Barad, K. (2007) *Meeting the Universe Halfway: Quantum Physics and the Entanglement of Matter and Meaning*, Durham, NC: Duke University Press.
- Bernal, V., and Grewal, I. (2014) *Theorizing NGOs: States, feminisms, and neoliberalism*, Durham, NC: Duke University Press

Commented [SP37]: I think this final sentence needs to be more of your voice and less of D&P. Would this be made easier by including in the chapter a text box that summarises the unstable elements of your own research assemblage? In this way you could wrap up the chapter with a reference to your own research.

Commented [JE38R37]: I have found myself being quite resistant to the idea of a text box because I do not want to close down possible meanings for the reader – but I have instead made this final section more specific about what this might mean for a researcher as a first step and (I hope) introduced a clearer voice. Do let me know your thoughts.

I wonder, if you decide to go ahead with the idea of a conversation between authors, whether this ‘box’ might be something that could be co-produced yet still somehow open-ended? That would, I think, be a better fit with the conceptual ideas in the chapter...

Commented [SPS39R37]: I agree. One of the questions the chapter leaves open for students and new researchers of NGOs is how to conceptualise a research question while leaving open these possibilities of transformation and disruption. This would be a good theme for discussion between authors whether face to face or in a structured (written) dialogue. Part of this could be expanding and opening up the conversation we are having here via these comments -making visible our own curatorial process to readers as an appendix?

Braidotti, R. (2006) Posthuman, All Too Human: Towards a New Process Ontology, *Theory, Culture & Society*, 23 (7-8): 197-208

Castro, M. G. (2001) Engendering Powers in Neoliberal Times: Reflections from the left on feminisms and feminisms, *Latin American Perspectives*, 28 (6): 17–37

DeLanda M (2016) *Assemblage Theory*, Edinburgh: Edinburgh University Press

Deleuze, G. and Guattari, F. (1980) *Mille Plateaux: Capitalisme et Schizophrénie II*, Paris: Minuit

Deleuze, G. and Guattari, F. (1988) *A Thousand Plateaus: Capitalism and Schizophrenia*. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press

Deleuze, G. and Parnet, C. (1987) *Dialogues*, London: Athlone Press

Deleuze, G. and Parnet, C. (2002) *Dialogues II*, London: Athlone Press

Dempsey, S. (2012) Nonprofits as Political Actors, *Management Communication Quarterly*, 26: 147–151.

Ferguson, J. (1994) *The Anti-Politics Machine: "Development", Depoliticization, and Bureaucratic Power in Lesotho*, Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press

Fox, N.J. (n.d) New Materialism, *Global Social Theory: Concepts, Thinkers, Topics*, Available: <https://globalsocialtheory.org/topics/new-materialism/> Accessed: 17th May 2021

Fox, N. J., and Alldred, P. (2015a) Inside the Research-Assemblage: New Materialism and the Micropolitics of Social Inquiry, *Sociological Research Online*, 20 (2): 122-14

Fox, N. J., and Alldred, P. (2015b) New Materialist Social Inquiry: Designs, Methods and the Research-Assemblage, *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 18 (4): 399-414

Fox, N. J., and Alldred, P. (2018) Mixed Methods, Materialism and the Micropolitics of the Research-Assemblage, *International Journal of social research methodology*, 21 (2): 191-204

Funk, N. (2006) Women's NGOs in Central and Eastern Europe and the Former Soviet Union: The Imperialist Criticism, In: Lukić, J., Regulaska, J. & Završsek, D. (Eds) *Women and Citizenship in Central and Eastern Europe*, pp: 281-302, Aldershot: Ashgate

Haraway D. (1988) Situated knowledges: The Science Question in Feminism and the Privilege of Partial Perspective, *Feminist Studies* 14 (3): 575–599

Haraway, D. (1991) *Simians, Cyborgs and Women: The Reinvention of Nature*, London: Free Association Books

Hearn, J.H. (2007) African NGOs: The New Compradors? *Development and Change*, 38 (6): 1095–1110

Hilhorst, D. J. M. (2003) *The Real World of NGOs: Discourses, Diversity and Development*, London: Zed Books.

Hodžić, S. (2014) Feminist Bastards: Towards A Posthuman Critique of NGOization, In: Bernal, V., & Grewal, I. (Eds) *Theorizing NGOs: States, Feminisms, and Neoliberalism*, pp: 221-247, Durham, NC: Duke University Press

Kudva, N. (2005) Strong States, Strong NGOs, In: Ray, R. & Katzenstein, M.F. (Eds) *Social Movements in India: Poverty, Power, Politics*, pp: 233- 266, Lanham, MD: Rowan and Littlefield

Lang, S. (1997) The NGO-ization of Feminism: Institutionalisation and Institution Building within the German Women's Movements, In: Scott, J. W., Kaplan, C. and Keates, D. (Eds) *Transitions, Environments, Translations: Feminisms in International Politics*, pp. 101-120, New York: Routledge

Lewis, D., and P. Opoku-Mensah. (2006) Moving Forward Research Agendas on International NGOs: Theory, Agency and Context, *Journal of International Development*, 18 (5): 665–675

Mignolo, W. D. (2011) 'Geopolitics of Sensing and Knowing: On (De)coloniality, Border Thinking and Epistemic Disobedience', *Postcolonial Studies*, 14(3): 273-283

Mignolo, W.D. (2018) Foreword: On Pluriversality and Multipolarity. In: Reiter, B. (Ed) *Constructing the pluriverse: The geopolitics of knowledge*, pp. ix-xvi, Durham: Duke University Press

Mitchell, G.E., Schmitz, H.P., & Bruno-van Vijfeijken, T. (2020) *Between Power and Irrelevance: The Future of Transnational NGOs*, Oxford: Oxford University Press

Puar J.K. (2007) *Terrorist Assemblages: Homonationalism in Queer Times* Durham: Duke University Press

Richard, A. (2009) Mediating Dilemmas: Local NGOs and Rural Development in Neoliberal Mexico, *PoLAR*, 32 (2): 166–94

Roy, S. (2015) The Indian Women's Movement: Within and Beyond NGOization. *Journal of South Asian Development*, 10 (1): 96-117

Savage, M. (2010). *Identities and Social Change in Britain since 1940: The Politics of Method*. Oxford University Press.

Schöneberg, J. (2019) Manoeuvring Political Realms: Alternatives to Development in Haiti, In: Klein, E. & Morreo, C.E. (Eds). *Postdevelopment in Practice: Alternatives, Economies, Ontologies*, pp: 263-275, London: Routledge

Schuller, M. (2009) Gluing Globalization: NGOs as Intermediaries in Haiti, *Political and Legal Anthropology Review*, (32): 84–104

Stanley, L. (2016) Archival Methodology Inside the Black Box: Noise in the Archive, In: Moore, N., Salter, A., Stanley, L., & Tamboukou, M. (Eds). *The Archive Project: Archival Research in the Social Sciences*, pp: 33-67, London: Routledge

Tamboukou, M. (2010) Charting Cartographies of Resistance: Lines of Flight in Women Artists' Narratives, *Gender and Education*, 22 (6): 679-696

Tvedt, T. (2006) The International Aid System and the Non-Governmental Organisations: A New Research Agenda, *Journal of International Development*, 18 (5): 677–690

Wadham, H., Urquhart, C., Warren, R. (2019) Living with Paradox in International Development: An Extended Case Study of an International NGO, *The European Journal of Development Research*, 31: 1263–1286